1979

Paul T. Moore v. Burton Lumber & Hardware Company, A Corporation : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an action seeking damages for personal injuries sustained while operating a radial arm saw upon defendant's business premises.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

This case was tried to a jury in July of 1978. The jury returned a Special Verdict finding both parties negligent, but further finding that plaintiff's negligence was not a proximate cause of his injuries. The jury awarded plaintiff \$110,000.00 in general damages and \$34,892.00 in special damages. The lower court entered judgment in

plaintiff's favor and against defendant on July 28, 1978. Defendant's motion for a new trial was denied by the lower court on August 21, 1979.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Defendant seeks a reversal of the judgment of the lower court and, an entry of judgment for defendant and against plaintiff, no cause of action, or in the alternative seeks to have the matter remanded for a new trial upon all issues.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Shortly before noon on May 1, 1975, the plaintiff and his associate, Charles Albert (Buddy) Prince, drove to the business premises of defendant Burton Lumber & Hardware Company in plaintiff Moore's pickup truck. [R. 643, 672]. Their stated purpose in visiting Burton Lumber was to buy some odds-and-ends and to ask permission to use Burton Lumber's radial arm saw to cut several 2" x 4"'s, the blocks from which were to be used in finishing work at Foothill Place; a Deal Development Company project over which plaintiff served as project foreman. [R. 644, 671-72]. Deal Development was a customer of Burton Lumber and had an open account there. [R. 645]. The account, however, was only used to purchase minor items. Deal Development's lumber was bought from an out of state source and stored at Intermountain Lumber, several blocks away from defendant's business premises. [R. 671].

Upon arrival, the two men entered the store. While prince went about gathering the items on their "shopping list" plaintiff went to the front desk to inquire as to the possibility of using the radial arm saw. From this point on the evidence is in substantial conflict. Plaintiff claims that he spoke with Clair Bello, office manager for Burton Lumber. [R. 673]. Plaintiff maintains Bello quoted him a price per cut for the use of the saw. [R. 673]. The price seemed high and no set price was ever agreed upon. [R. 674]. Plaintiff testified that thereafter "someone" told him to check with the yardmen and if they weren't using the saw that it was all right for him to go ahead and use it. [R. 674]. While he remembers speaking with Clair Bello regarding the price per cut for use of the saw, plaintiff does not remember who instructed him to check with the yardmen. [R. 783].

Plaintiff's uncorroborated version of the conversation is substantially different than that recounted by the Burton Lumber employees. Testimony for the defendant showed that when plaintiff first went to the front desk he spoke to Richard Lindgren, one of the hardware salesmen. Lindgren answered "no" to plaintiff's request to use the saw and told him any cutting would have to be done by the yard people. Since he did not know what the price would be he referred Moore to Clair Bello. He subsequently heard the two discussing the price. [R. 830-31].

Clair Bello testified that while he did have a conversation with plaintiff, the substance of it was with regard to the price to have the lumber cut, and at no time was permission to use the saw even mentioned. Bello, too, agreed that no set price was ever established. [R. 838-39].

The Burton Lumber employees all testified to the fact that it was a standard recognized policy at the yard that no one was allowed to use the saw unless he was an authorized employee of Burton Lumber. [R. 823, 829-30, 838, 848, 866, 868].

Following the conversation with Mr. Bello, plaintiff claims he went out into the yard and spoke with a Mexican yardman whose name he later learned to be "Jessie". [R. 675]. Plaintiff claims the yardman told him that the saw was not being used and then led him to the saw shed. [R. 675]. Plaintiff noticed that the blade of the saw was set for ripping, whereas he needed it set for cross-cutting. He then offered the yardman a six-pack of beer if he would change the blade before plaintiff got back from Intermountain with the lumber. [R. 676]. The yardman allegedly agreed, whereupon plaintiff returned to his truck at about the same time Buddy Prince came out the west entrance of the store. [R. 675-76]. Prince testified to hearing Moore tell the yardman, "See you after awhile". [R. 647]. The two

men then left the lumber yard through its rear gate which led onto Main Street.

The Burton Lumber yardmen all controverted plaintiff's testimony. According to the testimony of Larry Hester and Jessie Garcia, plaintiff and Prince came out to the yard together and, after again being denied permission to use the saw, repeated plaintiff's version of the conversion at the front desk to them. Hester, who no longer works for Burton Lumber, told plaintiff that he would have to have an invoice and then the yardmen could do the cutting. Plaintiff told the yardmen that he had to go to Intermountain and would be back in a short time. Hester told plaintiff that he would check with the front office during the interim. Neither Hester nor Garcia remember taking plaintiff to the saw shed and promising to change the position of the blade. [R. 847-49, 867-68].

Shortly thereafter, the yard employees, including yard foreman Vernon Campos who had returned from lunch, heard the saw running and went down to investigate, arriving at approximately the same time that Paul Moore came out of the shed holding his bleeding hand. [R. 850-51, 869, 919-20].

After their initial conversation with Hester and Garcia, plaintiff and Prince had driven over to Intermountain Lumber and picked up the 2" x 4"'s they planned to cut into blocks at Burton Lumber. [R. 647, 677]. The two men

then drove back to Burton Lumber. Plaintiff claims they stopped at a small store on the way where they bought the six-pack of beer promised to the yardman. [R. 647-48, 677-78]. The two entered through the back gate and parked the pickup truck between the saw shed and an adjacent building in such a manner that only the end of the truck bed was visible from any other point in the yard. [R. 877-78].

Plaintiff then entered the saw shed, measured the length he wanted to cut the boards, and drove a nail into the table to use as a gauge. [R. 650, 679-81]. He then started up the saw. Plaintiff claims he did not see the sign hanging up on the wall opposite the saw which said, in large yellow letters, "FOR USE OF AUTHORIZED PERSONNEL ONLY". [R. 786].

The radial arm saw at Burton Lumber had been in use on the premises for over thirty years without an accident. [R. 819]. Plaintiff's expert, Louis Barbe, stated that in his opinion the saw was "unreasonably dangerous" due to its lack of blade guards and a kickback guard, which guard would stop the saw from rolling forward. [R. 621]. Mr. Barbe admitted, however, that he had not operated this particular saw but had only observed it for approximately 15 minutes on one occasion and, during that time, did not see the saw move forward any measureable amount. [R. 602-03, 631]. Mr.

Barbe has also had no experience in operating similar radial arm saws.

Plaintiff, on the other hand, testified as having had experience operating such saws throughout his construction background. [R. 778]. While admitting that such saws are, by their very nature, extremely dangerous, and realizing the saw could injure him, plaintiff felt confident to operate the saw without any instruction or assistance from the lumberyard people in light of his prior experience with this type of saw. [R. 761, 779, 788].

While the radial arm saw did lack the guards described by Mr. Barbe, defendant's expert witness, Dr. Jay Hicken, as well as all of the Burton Lumber employees, testified that the upper hood guard attached to the saw could be rotated down until it almost made contact with any size of stock an employee might wish to cut. [R. 854-55, 914, 951]. As such, it is an almost impregnable guard. [R. 952]. Plaintiff testified that he was aware that the hood would rotate down, yet apparently chose not to make use of it. [R. 788].

Plaintiff had cut one 2" x 4" into 10" to 12" blocks without incident and had just placed the second 2" x 4" into position when the accident occurred. Plaintiff left the saw running while positioning the next board but claims he kept his eye on the saw blade while sliding the 2" x 4"

along the table. [R. 760]. With his hand directly in the line of the rotating blade, plaintiff shifted his gaze to the nail gauge he claims to have nailed in the table, 10" to 12" past the blade. [R. 762, 792]. While looking at the gauge, he felt his hand come in contact with the blade, although he is at a loss to explain how it happened.

In its Instructions to the Jury, the lower court failed to instruct the jurors that there was no duty to warn a business invitee in the face of an obvious hazard, yet instructed that there is no duty to warn a licensee in the face of an obvious hazard. [R. 325, 327].

The court also refused to submit either defendant's or plaintiff's proposed instructions as to the doctrine of assumption of the risk. The court's basis for its ruling was its opinion that assumption of the risk has been statutorily swallowed up by comparative negligence. [R. 899]. Over objection, no interrogatory as to assumption of the risk was included in the Special Verdict. [R. 1027-28].

Furthermore, the court refused defendant's proposed instruction that the jury return a verdict finding plaintiff negligent and that such negligence was a proximate cause of plaintiff's injury. [R. 398, 1028].

Defendant properly objected to each of the court's rulings and now respectfully submits that the trial court committed prejudicial error in making such rulings.

The jury returned a Special Verdict finding both plaintiff and defendant negligent. However, they found plaintiff's negligence not to have been a cause of the injury, which conclusion precluded the necessity for comparing one party's negligence against the other. The jury awarded plaintiff damages in the amount of \$144,892.00 and the court thereafter entered Judgment. Defendant's Motion for a New Trial was denied.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE COURT ERRED IN NOT INSTRUCTING THE JURY THAT THERE IS NO DUTY TO WARN IN THE FACE OF AN OBVIOUS DANGER. THE ERROR WAS COMPOUNDED BY FAILING TO INSTRUCT UPON ASSUMPTION OF RISK AND IN NOT INCLUDING AN ASSUMPTION OF RISK INTERROGATORY IN THE SPECIAL VERDICT.

From the outset of this litigation, defendant felt that plaintiff Paul Moore's actions in the face of the open and obvious danger posed by the unguarded radial arm saw obviated any duty which defendant owed him. In accordance with its belief, defendant presented ample evidence at trial (and was assisted by plaintiff's own presentation of evidence) to enable the jury to find either: (1) that due to the openness of the danger a duty to warn or protect plaintiff never arose thereby uprooting plaintiff's negligence action at its base; or (2) that plaintiff had voluntarily exposed himself to an

obvious danger and thereby assumed the risk of injury. By its action, the lower court denied defendant both theories of the case.

- A. The court's instruction on the duty owed a business visitor took the question of obviousness of danger from the jury, precluding a finding for defendant.

At the close of the evidence, defendant submitted the following instruction on the duty owed a business invitee:

INSTRUCTION NO. 20

One who extends to a business visitor or invitee an invitation, express or implied, is obliged to refrain from acts of negligence and to exercise ordinary care to keep the premises in a condition reasonably safe for the business visitor or invitee in the reasonable pursuit of a purpose embraced within the invitation.

In the absence of appearance that caution or would caution a reasonable prudent person in a like position, to the contrary, the business visitor or invitee has a right to assume that the premises and the equipment are reasonably safe for the purposes for which the invitation was extended and to act on that assumption.

The responsibility of the lumber yard is not absolute; is not that of an insurer. If there is danger attending the entry of the premises and the use of the equipment and if such danger arises from conditions readily apparent to the senses, the business visitor or invitee is under a duty to discover the danger.

The Defendant lumber yard had a right to assume that Mr. Moore would perceive that which would be obvious to him upon the ordinary use of his own sense of sight and was under no duty to

give Mr. Moore, if he is found to be a business visitor or invitee, any notice of an obvious danger.

[R. 417].

Although it is a proper statement of the law, the court refused defendant's proposed instruction and instead submitted, verbatim, plaintiff's proposed instruction on the point:

INSTRUCTION NO. 22

If you find by a preponderance of the evidence that, at the time of his injury, Mr. Moore was defendant's "business invitee" as that term is defined hereinafter, then defendant's duty to Mr. Moore was to refrain from any acts of negligence toward him; to exercise reasonable care to keep the premises, including the radial arm saw thereon, in a condition reasonably safe for purposes consistent with his presence there; and to warn him of any and all dangers involving the operation of said saw which were known to the defendant or should have become known to the defendant in the exercise of reasonable diligence and the performance of reasonable inspections.

[R. 327].

The issued instruction is seriously deficient in its statement of the law, as noted in defense counsel's objection to it.

Well, that is not a complete instruction on the law. There is no duty to give an instruction or warning to a man where the danger is obvious and he should exercise his own common sense to perceive what the danger is. I think the facts are here that he should have perceived and, as such--we should have--the court should have

instructed the jury that there was no duty to be warning him when they found the hazard was obvious.

[R. 1019, lines 19-26].

Defendant admits that the jury's finding that plaintiff was a business invitee at the time of the accident [R. 1024] imposes a much heavier burden on the plaintiff to oversee plaintiff's safety than if the jury had found Mr. Moore to be a trespasser or licensee. But a property owner is not an insurer for even an invitee. A property owner's duties toward invitees are limited to those risks:

Which are unreasonable, Comment f., Restatement of the Law of Torts, Sec. 342, Gaddis v. Ladies Literary Club, 4 Utah 2d 121, 388 P.2d 785; which he has no reason to believe such persons will discover or realize the risk involved, Erickson v. Walgreen Drug Co., 120 Utah 31, 232 P.2d 210, 31 A.L.R.2d 177; and which he has reason to anticipate that persons acting with ordinary and reasonable care will encounter. Tempest v. Richardson, 5 Utah 2d 174, 299 P.2d 124.

Steele v. Denver and Rio Grande Western Railroad Company, 16 U. 2d 127, 396 P.2d 751, 753 (1964). However, one critical limitation must be added to this statement of the law. Where the dangerous condition on the premises is readily observable to the invitee, or is as observable to the invitee as to the property owner, the property owner has no duty to inspect and warn, but is only bound by the universal standard of reasonable care under the existing circumstances. Steele v. Denver and Rio Grande Western Railroad Company, supra; Ellertson v. Dansie, 576 P.2d 867 (Utah 1978).

The principle that a property owner is under no duty to warn even a business invitee of an obvious danger is controlling law in nearly all modern jurisdictions, e.g. Sherman v. Arno, 94 Ariz. 284, 383 P.2d 741 (1963); Chance v. Lawry's Inc., 24 Cal.Rptr. 209, 374 P.2d 185 (1962); CeBuzz, Inc. v. Sneiderman, 171 Colo. 246, 466 P.2d 457 (1970); Folda v. City of Bozeman, 582 P.2d 767 (Mont. 1978); Worth v. Reed, 79 Nev. 351, 384 P.2d 1017 (1963); Romero v. Kendricks, 390 P.2d 269 (N.M. 1964); Buck v. Del City Apts., Inc., 431 P.2d 360 (Okla. 1967); Bluejacket v. Carney, 550 P.2d 494 (Wyo. 1976). The rationale behind the rule is both simple and logical: since the duty of the property owner is only to warn or protect the invitee from hidden or unusual dangers, the duty is obviated where the obviousness of the danger serves as its own warning signal. Worth v. Reed, supra; Tolar Construction Co. v. Ellington, 225 S.E.2d 66 (Ct.App.Ga. 1976).

In line with the cited authority, the issue in a case of this type becomes whether or not the danger was obvious enough to absolve the landowner of any duty to protect or warn the invitee. But that is not the question presented by this appeal. The issue under consideration is much more limited; namely, whether there was sufficient evidence adduced at trial to raise the issue in a disputed posture

and mandate its submission to a jury. If there was competent evidence on the issue which raises a possible inference that plaintiff was warned of the danger by its open nature, then the trial court has an affirmative duty to submit the theory to a jury and not decide it as a matter of law. Black v. McKnight, 562 P.2d 621 (Utah 1977); Powers v. Gene's Building Materials, Inc., 567 P.2d 174 (Utah 1977); Cf. Foster v. Steed, 23 U.2d 148, 459 P.2d 1021 (1969) (similar holding in a directed verdict context).

The record is replete with testimony which would substantiate a finding that plaintiff must have been aware of the danger posed.¹ Plaintiff's only expert, Mr. Louis C. Barbe, testified that the cause of the accident was the fact that the circular saw did not have adequate safety guards. [R. 620-21]. The fact is the machine was equipped with a hood guard which could be rotated down so as to cover the saw blade to the width of the stock being cut. [R. 820-21, 854-55, 857, 921].

Plaintiff was not only an experienced carpenter but was familiar with the operation of the saw. [R. 778-79,

¹ In reviewing the record to determine whether the trial court erred in refusing to submit defendant's theory to the jury, it is important to remember that the evidence of facts and inferences to be drawn therefrom are to be examined in the light most favorable to the wronged party. Ferguson v. Jongsma, 10 U.2d 179, 350 P.2d 404 (1960).

788]. The saw shed contained a large sign which read "FOR USE OF AUTHORIZED PERSONNEL ONLY." Plaintiff did not ask for any instruction from any of the lumberyard employees in the use of the saw [R. 779] since he felt competent to operate the equipment. [R. 788]. Plaintiff knew of the danger attending the operation of such saws. [R. 788]. He was also aware that while the hood guard could be rotated down, that it had not been. [R. 788-89].

By his own admission, plaintiff was familiar with radial circular saws and their operation. As such he must also be charged with the knowledge of the relative dangers posed by a guarded or unguarded saw and, with such knowledge, he is also chargeable with knowledge of the condition of this saw since its condition was reasonably discoverable by a man of his background and experience. At the very least, an inference of knowledge can be drawn.

The fact of the matter is that this question, viz. whether there is credible evidence to warrant the submission of an instruction on this issue to the jury, has been rendered moot for purposes of this appeal by another instruction of the trial court. Instruction No. 20, as issued by the lower court, clearly shows that the trial court found that sufficient evidence had been adduced to send defendant's theory to the jury. That instruction reads:

INSTRUCTION NO. 20

The duty of the Defendant lumber yard to a licensee is to not wantonly or wilfully injure the licensee and to warn the licensee of a dangerous condition of which the lumber yard knows and should realize involves unreasonable risk of injury to the licensee and should also realize the licensee will not discover or realize the danger.

If the licensee knows or should know of the dangerous condition of the premises or equipment, there is no duty to warn him of the condition or of the equipment or to make the premises and equipment safe for the use of the licensee.

[R. 325]. The final paragraph of this instruction is a correct statement of the law and is the same type of language defendant requested in its proposed instruction on the duty owed a business visitor. [R. 417].

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