1981

Paul T. Moore v. Burton Lumber & Hardware Company, A Corporation : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE COURT'S INSTRUCTIONS TO THE JURY ON DEFENDANT'S DUTY TO ITS BUSINESS INVITEES WERE NOT ERRONEOUS, NOR WERE THEY PREJUDICIAL IN LIGHT OF THE FACTS AND CIRCUMSTANCES OF THE CASE.

Burton Lumber Company first argues for a reversal of the trial court's judgment in this case based on alleged errors by the Court in instructing the jury as to the duty of the lumber company toward a business invitee. Burton claims that the jury should have been told there was no duty to warn of an obvious danger.

In deciding an appeal based on such a claim, three factors must be taken into consideration: (1) It must be established that the court's instruction was in fact erroneous; (2) Once established as erroneous, the instruction must be shown to have been prejudicial to the outcome of the case and to the rights of the appealing party; and (3) The party claiming error and prejudice must meet the burden of proof as to both aspects of such a claim. The Utah Supreme Court has stated this general proposition of law as follows:

What the parties are entitled to and the law seeks to afford is an opportunity for one claiming a grievance which would justify legal

redress to present it to a court or jury and to have a fair trial. When this is done, and the verdict and judgment are entered, all presumptions are in favor of their validity. The burden is upon the appellant not only to show that there was error, but that it was prejudicial to the extent that there is reasonable likelihood that in its absence there would have been a different result.

Joseph v. W. H. Groves Latter-day Saints Hospital, 10 Utah 2d 94, 348 P.2d 935, 938 (1960); Cf. Gilhespie v. DeJong, 520 P.2d 878, 880 (Utah 1974); Ewell and Son, Inc. v. Salt Lake City Corporation, 27 Utah 2d 188, 493 P.2d 1283, 1288 (1972); Simpson v. General Motors Corporation, 24 Utah 2d 301, 470 P.2d 399, 402 (1970).

In the present case, defendant/appellant, Burton Lumber Co. has not met its burden of proof of showing error in the instructions, nor of showing prejudice to its rights or to the outcome of the case. These points are more fully discussed hereinafter.

A. The Court did not err in refusing to instruct the jury on defendant's responsibility to a business invitee concerning an obvious danger because there was no evidence that the dangerous condition of the saw in question was obvious.

Respondent Paul Moore does not deny that, as a general proposition of law, an owner or occupier of land does not have a duty to warn his business invitees of dangers which are open or obvious. However, in order for a defendant to rely on such a doctrine as a defense to an action against

him, and be entitled to a jury instruction thereon, that defendant must present evidence to justify application of the theory. The Utah Supreme Court has said:

It is well recognized that the parties are entitled to have their theories of the case presented to the jury in the form of instructions, but only if they are supported by the evidence.

Powers v. Gene's Building Materials, Inc. 567 P.2d 174, 176 (Utah 1977).

The above principle was applied in Bruner v. McCarthy, 105 Utah 399, 142 P.2d 649 (1943). There, a railroad worker's leg was amputated when he fell from a train which his fellow worker had moved suddenly and unexpectedly. The defendant trustees of the railroad appealed the injured worker's successful action against them, claiming that the trial court's refusal to instruct the jury on the defense theory of contributory negligence was reversible error. Defendants postulated that they should have been entitled to such an instruction because plaintiff picked the most dangerous way he could have to do his task. The Supreme Court noted that "one difficulty with this position is that the record does not support it." Id. , 142 P.2d at 651. Judgment for plaintiff was affirmed.

The present case is analogous to Bruner. Here, Burton Lumber postulates that the radial arm saw in question was dangerous for lack of safety guards and safety guards alone. It reasons that since the absence of such guards

was open and obvious to a user of the saw, an instruction relating to its lack of duty was in order. As in Bruner, however, the record does not support Burton's position.

The record clearly shows that the real danger of the saw to Mr. Moore was the fact that its cutting head had a tendency to drift spontaneously out from the return position while the saw was running. (R. at 604-606; 931-933.) The absence of proper safety guards only compounded the danger that such a condition posed to an unsuspecting user of the saw, since there was nothing to keep vulnerable hands and fingers from being caught and cut by the drifting blade. (R. at 610.) Why Burton Lumber has so carefully omitted all reference to this danger from its brief is not known. Nonetheless, such an omission deprives its arguments of whatever validity and legitimacy they might otherwise have claimed.

Evidence showing the true nature of the danger posed by the saw was not sparse. Expert witness Louis Barbe testified that (1) the saw lacked appropriate guards and (2) was not mounted or equipped to control movement of the cutting head along the arm therefore resulting in a tendency for it to move spontaneously toward an operator while it was running. (R. at 604, 606, 618-619.) Defense witness Vern Campos agreed that the saw had a tendency to creep. (R. at 933.) Mr. Campos also indicated that such movement was rather erratic and inconsistent. (R. at 931-935.) Photographer Scott Heslop also testified that

even when not running, the saw drifted out from its return position. (R. at 965.)

Mr. Barbe testified that minimum safety standards in 1975 (including those promulgated by the American National Standards Institute) required, as a minimum, that radial saws be equipped with certain types of safety guards which defendant's saw did not have, (R. at 615-618), and that the saw be positioned or equipped so that the cutting head would not roll or move out on the arm away from the column as a result of gravity or vibration. (R. at 618-619.) It was clear from testimony of Robert Burton, Vice President of Burton Lumber, that no effort had been made to comply with either of these minimum safety requirements. (R. at 825-826.)

Mr. Barbe, as well as the expert testifying for the defense both stated that the condition of the saw in reference to the above safety requirements made it defective and dangerous. (R. at 620; 956-958.) Mr. Barbe added that in his opinion Mr. Moore's injuries were caused by the said defective condition of the saw. (R. at 621-622.) It is clear from the full text of Mr. Barbe's testimony that he was not isolating the absence of guards as being the sole factor causing injury to Mr. Moore, but, rather, was blaming the injuries on the lack of guards together with the fact that the saw had a tendency to creep.

Though there was ample evidence to show the creeping

tendency of the saw, there was no evidence introduced at any time to support an allegation that the danger therefrom to Mr. Moore was open or obvious. In fact, all evidence tended to show the latent nature of the danger.

Mr. Robert Burton, employee of Burton Lumber for thirty years, said he thought the saw stayed put when pushed back. (R. at 825-826.) Larry Hester, a yardman for Burton Lumber and user of the saw, testified that his impression was that the saw did not move even a fraction of an inch when pushed back. (R. at 856.) Jessie Garcia, yardman for Burton Lumber, said he had never seen the saw move. (R. at 871.) Paul Moore said the only way he knew the saw would move was "to grab the handle and pull it out." (R. at 762.)

On the strength of such evidence, and none showing the contrary, there was no way the jury could have found that the dangerous condition of the saw was open or obvious to a business invitee. In fact, an instruction including provisos relating to questions of obviousness may even have been confusing and misleading to the jurors. The Court did not err in instructing the jury as it did.

B. When the jury instructions are read as a whole, they show that defendant's duty to a business invitee was properly explained and no error was committed.

It is a clearly established proposition of law that

in determining whether or not a trial court has fairly presented the issues of a case to the jury, the instructions will not be examined fragmentally nor in isolation, but will be considered as a whole. Black v. McKnight, 562 P.2d 621, 622 (Utah 1977). The fact that a requested instruction, though it correctly states the law, is not given, does not constitute error, if the substance thereof was given in instructions of the court, (Hardman v. Thurman, 121 Utah 143, 239 P.2d 215, 219 (1951)), or if the jury is otherwise sufficiently advised of the issue it is to determine. In re Richards Estate, 5 Utah 2d 106, 297 P.2d 542, 545 (1956). See also Ewell and Son Inc. v. Salt Lake City Corporation, 27 Utah 2d 188, 493 P.2d 1283, 1288 (1972).

As stated by this Court in Gilhespie v. DeJong, 520 P.2d 878 (Utah 1974), the fact that a party is entitled to have the jury instructed in accordance with his theory of the case "does not mean that [the instruction] must be given in the exact language chosen by him. The requirement is met if the basic idea contended for is explained in ordinary, concise and understandable language." Id. at 880.

The instructions of the trial court in the present case, when read as a whole, show that though the court did not employ the precise language urged upon it by defendant concerning duties owed to a business invitee it did instruct on such duties with sufficient clarity to avoid committing error.

Burton complains of the Court's giving of Instruction No. 22, which reads as follows:

INSTRUCTION NO. 22

If you find by a preponderance of the evidence that, at the time of his injury, Mr. Moore was defendant's "business invitee," as that term is defined hereinafter, then defendant's duty to Mr. Moore was to refrain from any acts of negligence toward him; to exercise reasonable care to keep the premises, including the radial arm saw thereon, in a condition reasonably safe for purposes consistent with his presence there; and to warn him of any and all dangers involving the operation of said saw which were known to the defendant or should have become known to the defendant in the exercise of reasonable diligence and the performance of reasonable inspections.

(R. at 327.)

Instruction No. 22 was not the only one in which the court explained the nature of the defendant's duty to an invitee. In Instruction No. 21 (which was requested by Burton Lumber, R. at 416) the duty of a lumber yard toward its business invitees was explained as follows:

INSTRUCTION NO. 21

When a lumber yard is open for business, one who enters it to purchase some commodity or service, is a business visitor or invitee. Upon the owner of the lumber yard, Burton Lumber and Hardware Company, the law places the duty of exercising ordinary care to not unnecessarily expose the business visitor or invitee to danger or accident and keep in reasonably safe condition the portions of the premises and equipment therein impliedly or expressly made available for the business visitor or invitee to use.

* * *

(R. at 326.)

The court's Instruction No. 11 defined negligence as "the failure to do what a reasonably prudent person would

have done under the circumstances of the situation,"
(R. at 316.) Instruction No. 12 explained that a person's duty to exercise caution varies with the amount of danger reasonably to be apprehended:

INSTRUCTION NO. 12

Inasmuch as the amount of caution used by the ordinary prudent person varies in direct proportion to the danger known to be involved in his undertaking, it follows that in the exercise of ordinary care, the amount of caution required will vary in accordance with the nature of the act and the surrounding circumstances. To put the matter in another way, the amount of caution required by the law increases as does the danger that reasonably should be apprehended increases.

(R. at 317.)

Upon examination of the whole of the instructions relative to Burton's duty toward an invitee, it cannot fairly be said that the jury was left to believe that said duty included an obligation to warn of dangers which were "readily available to the senses," or "perfectly obvious." Therefore, it was unnecessary for the court to have used the precise wording requested by defendant when giving its instructions.

In Rowley v. Graven Brothers & Co., 26 Utah 2d 448, 491 P.2d 1209 (1971), an injured plaintiff complained of an adverse verdict on the basis of alleged errors in the jury instructions relating to contributory negligence. This Court's opinion of the alleged errors is instructive:

If the language assigned as objectionable be

excerpted and looked at in isolation there is some plausibility to plaintiff's argument that it might have the [adverse] effect he suggests. However, it will be noted that it was coupled with the correct statement that he was obliged to take such precautions as a reasonable and prudent person would take under the same circumstances. Notwithstanding minor variants in the instructions, if they are all considered together, as they are required to be, we think they adequately set forth the duties of the parties and properly submitted the issues to the jury.

Id., 491 P.2d at 1210-1211.

Here, as in Rowley, supra, there is no error that was upsetting the jury verdict and judgment.

C. Comparison of the Court's instructions concerning defendant's duties to licensees as opposed to business invitees does not demonstrate error with respect to the latter.

Defendant points out that the court's instruction on duty to a licensee contains the type of language which it sought to have included in the proposed "invitee" instructions. Defendant then argues that if the court considered the language of the "licensee" instruction to be supported by evidence, it could not properly exclude such language from the "invitee" instruction. Such argument lacks merit for two reasons:

First, as has been shown above, the instructions, when read as a whole, make it clear that the jury was properly instructed concerning defendant's lack of

duty to warn of readily apparent and patently obvious dangers.

Second, even if the jury had not been so instructed, the fact remains that there was no evidence to support the alleged existence of an obvious danger. (Supra at 13-14.) In that sense, the Court's "licensee" instruction, as worded, may also have been unwarranted by the facts of this case. In light of the outcome, however, any such error in this regard must surely be classed as harmless. Rule 61, Utah Rules of Civil Procedure.

D. Even if the court's instructions concerning defendant's duty toward an invitee had been erroneous, defendant has failed to show that they were prejudicial.

Assuming, arguendo, that the trial court's refusal to give defendant's Requested Instruction No. 20 (R. at 417) was error, Burton Lumber still has the burden of showing that such error was prejudicial to it in the sense that it resulted in substantial injustice, or that it deprived the defendant of its substantial rights. Rule 61, Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. The Utah Supreme Court has further explained this rule as follows:

The mandate of our law is that we do not reverse for mere error or irregularity. We do so only if the complaining party has been deprived of a fair

trial. The test to be applied is: Was there error or irregularity such that there is reasonable likelihood to believe that in its absence there would have been a result more favorable to him? If upon a survey of the whole evidence this question must be answered in the negative, then there is no justifiable basis for reversal of a judgment.

Rowley v. Graven Brothers & Co., 26 Utah 2d 448, 491 P.2d 1209, 1211 (1971). Cf. Ewell and Son, Inc. v. Salt Lake Corporation, 27 Utah 2d 188, 493 P.2d 1283, 1288 (1972); Hall v. Blackham, 18 Utah 2d 164, 417 P.2d 664, 666 (1966).

In the present case the jury found the defendant negligent in its conduct toward Paul Moore. Negligence was defined for the jurors as being the failure to do what a reasonably prudent person would have done under the circumstances of the situation. (R. at 316.) The evidence showed that the creeping tendency of the saw could have been eliminated by such simple acts as placing blocks under the table legs, tilting the arm of the saw, or attaching a weight or spring to the cutting head. (R. at 605, 638, 825-826.) The evidence also showed that none of these things had been done, despite the fact that their accomplishment was a minimum safety requirement. (R. at 605, 618-619; 814-815; 957-958.) No evidence indicated that the creeping tendency of the saw was obvious. (Supra at 13-14.) There is, therefore, no reasonable likelihood that the giving of the language proposed by defendant in its requested instruction No. 20 concerning its lack

of duty to warn of an obvious danger would, with any reasonable likelihood, have changed the outcome of the case.

A portion of the language of defendant's requested instruction which the court refused to give spoke of the plaintiff's duty as follows:

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